1996

# Joie D. Nelson v. Rpd Betit, as Executive Director of the Department of Human Services : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

This is an appeal from a final order of the District Court of the Second Judicial District granting the motion for summary judgment of the defendant Department of Human Services (hereinafter "DHS") and denying plaintiff Joie D. Nelson's (hereinafter "Nelson") motion for summary judgment. Appeal was taken to the Utah Supreme Court which had jurisdiction under section 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code. The Supreme Court subsequently transferred the case to the Court of Appeals.

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Whether the lower court erred in not concluding that Nelson was excluded from the Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) household pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §602(a)(24).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing an appeal from a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below. In determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below, the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law, which are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989). The issue was preserved in appellant's motion for summary judgment. R-24.

### **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES**

42 U.S.C. §602(a)(7) & (24)

45 C.F.R. §233.20(a)(ii)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature Of The Case

This case arose in October 1992, when a processing delay by the Social Security Administration (SSA) caused Nelson's son to be declared ineligible for AFDC and Medicaid benefits for one year. In that month, Nelson was found eligible for both Social Security Disability Insurance Benefits (SSDI) and Supplemental Security Income (SSI). However, the SSA processing delay resulted in a retroactive SSDI check arriving before a retroactive SSI check. Nelson had no control over which check SSA processed and issued first. Whether SSA issues the SSDI or SSI check first is completely arbitrary. Had the SSI check arrived first, Nelson would have been excluded from the AFDC household, her SSDI would not have been considered and this case would not have arisen. DHS, however, interpreted an AFDC statute--42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(24)--as meaning that the delay in receiving the SSI check precluded Nelson from being an SSI recipient. Applying AFDC lump sum rules that apply to SSDI--but not SSI--DHS declared Nelson's son ineligible.

Nelson did everything required of her under the law: she reported her disability determination, and her SSI retroactive award was offset by the AFDC benefits she received during the time her disability application was pending. She received nothing to which she was not entitled by law. But for the SSA processing delay, the lump sum rule would not have been applied and Nelson's son, like many other children of disabled mothers, would have continued to receive benefits.



B. Course Of The Proceedings

Nelson requested a hearing to contest the denial of benefits to her son. After receiving no relief through the administrative system, Nelson filed this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983. Both parties filed motions for summary judgment and the issues were fully briefed. The lower court found as a matter of law that deference was owed to a federal policy offered by DHS in support of its action and granted summary judgment to defendant. This appeal followed.

C. Disposition At Trial Court Or Agency

The motion for summary judgment filed by DHS was granted. Nelson's motion for summary judgment was denied.

D. Relevant Facts With Citations To The Record

Nelson and her son were receiving AFDC and Medicaid in July 1992. Record (hereinafter "R"), at 46. On July 28, 1992, Nelson applied for disability under two related federal programs: SSDI and SSI. R-42, 66. On October 17, 1992, Nelson received notice from SSA that she had been found disabled and was eligible for SSDI benefits starting in August 1991. R-8. On October 22, 1992, Nelson received further notice from SSA that she would soon be receiving a check in the amount of \$4918.00, representing retroactive SSDI benefits accrued during the time period from August 1991 through September 1992; she was further advised that her monthly SSDI check would be \$335.00. R-11. On October 27, 1992, Nelson delivered copies of the notices to her caseworker in the Ogden office. R-67.

On October 28, 1992, Nelson was notified by her caseworker that her case would be closed and, as a result, her son would be ineligible for AFDC and Medicaid benefits from November 1992 through October 1993. R-43. The disqualification resulted from AFDC policy which disqualified for a period of time those households which received lump sums. R-46.

On November 5, 1992, Nelson delivered to her caseworker a computer printout from SSA showing that she had also been found eligible for SSI benefits from the date of her application in July 1992, with development pending. R-42, 67. SSA did not process Nelson's SSI benefits until December 1992, when a retroactive SSI check was sent to Nelson. R-54. Her retroactive SSDI check was received in October 1992; DHS treated \$4,487.00 of that check as a lump sum. R-43.

Nelson delivered to her caseworker an updated computer printout from SSA, dated December 10, 1992, confirming that she had been eligible for SSI since July 1992, and that she would receive a retroactive SSI benefit check, together with recurring monthly benefits. R-44. Nelson asked that the decision denying her son AFDC and Medicaid be reversed, since she had been an SSI recipient at the time her son's eligibility was reviewed. R-68.

Nelson requested and appeared at a hearing where she argued that under federal law, the SSDI she received should have been excluded from household income when her son's eligibility was determined, because she had been an SSI recipient. At the hearing, additional facts were developed, including: (1) if the SSI payment

had been received prior to the SSDI payment, the lump sum rule would not have been applied (R-50); (2) the delay in processing Nelson's SSI claim from application to recipient status was the fault of the Social Security Administration (R-51); and (3) it was the delay in processing by SSA that caused Nelson to be included in the household and her son declared ineligible for one year's benefits (R-51). The hearing officer rejected Nelson's arguments, however, and refused to reinstate her son for benefits.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Under the plain language of section 602(a)(24), Nelson should have been treated as an SSI recipient at the time her SSDI check arrived. At least one other case that reviewed similar facts supports this argument. In the alternative, the court should find that the federal policy offered by DHS does not apply to the facts of this case and is not controlling. Nelson urges the court to adopt a more reasonable interpretation of the statute, thereby avoiding an unreasonable result which would deny a dependent, needy child AFDC and Medicaid benefits, because of a delay in processing over which he and his mother had no control.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **I. INTRODUCTION**

Nelson asks this court to reverse a lower court decision which approved her son's loss of a year's financial assistance and Medicaid, simply because of a processing delay by the Social Security Administration. Before considering the arguments for granting Nelson the relief she seeks, it is important to understand

what caused this unfair result.

A. The Interrelationship of SSDI and SSI

Typically, a person claiming disability applies for federal benefits under both the SSDI and SSI programs, which are fully funded and administered by the federal government. The two programs share a common definition of disability and the same sequential evaluation process is followed in making the determination. 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1505, .1520; 416.905, .920. The main difference between the two is the source of funding: SSDI is an insurance program funded by joint worker/employee contributions while the worker is employed. To qualify for SSDI, the applicant must have the requisite quarters of coverage and be insured at the time disability began. SSI is an income maintenance program and is available to any blind, disabled or elderly person, regardless of work history.

The monthly benefit amount for SSDI purposes varies, depending upon the amount paid into the Social Security system while the person was working. The amount of SSI to which a person may be eligible is reduced by earned and unearned income, including SSDI benefits. Currently, a single SSI recipient with no other income is entitled to a maximum benefit of \$470.00 per month.

The process for determining eligibility under either program begins with the filing of a joint application at the Social Security district office. The disability decision is made by the Disability Determination Service in Salt Lake City which contracts with Social Security to perform this function. Once determined

disabled for SSDI purposes, an applicant may be paid retroactive benefits up to twelve months before the date of application. In contrast, SSI benefits for a successful applicant start with the date of application. Since a disability determination can often take months, the successful disability applicant is usually entitled to a retroactive payment of benefits covering the months the claim was pending.

The actual processing of SSDI and SSI benefits takes place outside of Utah, usually in Baltimore, Maryland. Whether SSA processes the SSDI application first or the SSI application is completely arbitrary. Usually, the SSI award is paid first and the calculation of SSDI occurs subsequently. However, in some cases, and for unexplained reasons, the SSDI award is calculated and paid first. While in most cases this arbitrary event makes no difference to the SSDI/SSI recipient, in Nelson's case it had serious consequences, because she and her son were AFDC recipients at the time her SSDI retroactive benefits were paid.

B. The AFDC Program<sup>1</sup>

The AFDC program was based on a scheme of cooperative federalism designed to provide financial assistance to needy, dependent children and the parents or relatives who lived with and cared for them. King v. Smith, 392 U.S. 309, 316, 20 L.Ed.2d 1118

---

<sup>1</sup>On August 22, 1996, the President signed into law the Welfare Reform Act, Pub. L. No. 104-193, 110 Stat. 2105 (1996), effectively abolishing the AFDC program and replacing it with the Temporary Assistance to Needy Families program. The discussion of the AFDC program herein is based upon the law as it existed at the time these issues arose.

(1968). A state participating in the program was reimbursed by the federal government for a portion of the funds it spent on benefits. 42 U.S.C. §603 (1991). In return for receiving federal financial participation, the state was required to administer its AFDC program pursuant to a state plan conforming to applicable federal statutes and regulations. 42 U.S.C. §602 (1991). Children found eligible for AFDC were automatically eligible for health benefits under Medicaid. 42 U.S.C. §1396(a)(10)(A)(1991). States were required to consider a family's income and resources when determining eligibility; benefits were not allowed once income exceeded a prescribed amount. 42 U.S.C. §602(a)(7)(A)(1991).

In 1981, legislation was adopted which added the "lump sum rule" to the AFDC system. 42 U.S.C. §602(a)(17)(1991). Under this provision, a family that received in a month a lump sum of nonrecurring income which, when added to the family's other income, exceeded the standard of need for that household would be ineligible for a certain number of months from receiving AFDC. This rule applied to the lump sum of SSDI benefits which Nelson received in November 1992. When the amount of the lump sum was divided by her household's standard of need, it resulted in twelve months of ineligibility.

There is a second AFDC rule which is at the heart of this appeal. The statute excludes from the AFDC eligibility calculation any recipient of SSI benefits. Because of its centrality to Nelson's argument, the relevant section is quoted in its entirety:

A State plan for aid and services to needy families with children must--

....

(24) provide that if an individual is receiving benefits under subchapter XVI<sup>2</sup> of this chapter ... then, for the period for which such benefits are received ... such individual shall not be regarded as a member of a family for purposes of determining the amount of the benefits of the family under this subchapter and his income and resources shall not be counted as income and resources of a family under this subchapter;

42 U.S.C. §602(a)(24) (emphasis added).

II. UNDER THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE STATUTE, NELSON'S SSDI BENEFITS SHOULD HAVE BEEN EXCLUDED FROM CONSIDERATION

Nelson has argued since the inception of her case that under the AFDC statute and regulations she should have been excluded from the AFDC household because she was an SSI recipient, which would have left her son eligible for benefits. The federal regulation which implements the statute provides that a state AFDC plan must:

(ii) Provide that the needs, income, and resources of individuals receiving SSI benefits under Title XVI ... for the period for which such benefits are received, shall not be included in determining the need and the amount of the assistance payment of an AFDC assistance unit.

45 C.F.R. §233.20(a)(ii). See Addendum. The Utah Office of Family Support (OFS), the DHS branch administering AFDC, recognized that SSI recipients were excluded, for its policy at the time provided, in relevant part:

SSI recipients in an AFDC household must be excluded from the household grant. Do not use

---

<sup>2</sup>Subchapter XVI is that portion of the Social Security Act containing the eligibility requirements for SSI. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1382 et. seq.

the income and assets of SSI recipients to determine eligibility or to calculate the grant for the household.

UTAH-DHS-OFS Vol. II §212-1. See Addendum.

Nelson's argument made at her initial administrative hearing remains valid: the statute and regulations can be read to exclude her as an SSI recipient from the AFDC household and it is fundamentally unfair to base her son's eligibility on an arbitrary event over which he had no control. At least one state court in reviewing identical facts agreed with this argument. In Gleim v. Com. Dept. of Public Welfare, 409 A.2d 951 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1980), Eldora Gleim had applied for AFDC on May 8, 1978. Her husband, James E. Gleim, had applied for SSI benefits one month earlier on April 8, 1978. Owing to SSA's delay in processing the SSI claim, James Gleim did not receive a retroactive SSI payment until August 9, 1978. The Pennsylvania Department of Public Welfare (DPW) included James in Eldora Gleim's AFDC household, maintaining that he was not an SSI recipient until he actually received his benefit check, even though he had been accruing benefits from the date of his application. The Pennsylvania court found that the plain meaning of 602(a)(24) required a finding that James was an SSI recipient. It concluded:

Gleim received SSI benefits for the entire period between April 8, 1978, and August 9, 1978, although official notice was not received and payments were not paid until August 9, 1978. Therefore, under the plain language of the statute, Gleim became a recipient at that date which SSA found him to be eligible, April 8, 1978, and his inclusion within the family unit for AFDC grant purposes beyond that date was improper.



Id., at 952. The Gleim court observed that DPW's reading of the statute led to illogical and inconsistent results, since two individuals declared eligible for SSI on April 8, 1978, might become "recipients" on widely varying dates, solely because of processing delays at the SSA level.

This court has the authority to determine whether the plain language of 602(a)(24) is clear and unambiguous. The plain language itself is ordinarily regarded as conclusive, absent some expression of legislative intent to the contrary. North Dakota v. United States, 460 U.S. 300, 312, 75 L.Ed.2d 77, 103 S.Ct. 1095 (1983). The court should follow the example of the Gleim court and find that the plain language of the statute excluded Nelson from the AFDC household. Nelson began receiving SSI benefits from her first day of eligibility, even though a check for those accrued benefits was not sent to her by SSA until several months later. The statute does not require that a disabled person eligible for SSI benefits actually have the benefits in hand in order to be excluded from AFDC consideration. It excludes the SSI recipient from the AFDC household "for the period for which such benefits are received..." The period for which Nelson received SSI benefits dated from July 1992, when she applied for SSI. Therefore, Nelson should have been excluded from the AFDC household and her son allowed to continue receiving financial and medical benefits.

III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GIVING DEFERENCE TO A FEDERAL POLICY THAT DID NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

When the case was argued on summary judgment at the lower court, DHS produced and entered in the record Action Transmittal

No. ACF-AT-93-20 prepared by Diann Dawson, Acting Director of the Office of Family Assistance at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. R-124. See Addendum. This document purports to set forth federal policy addressing the issue raised in this appeal. The lower court accepted the document as federal policy, to which deference must be given, and it held:

The Court rules that the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §602(a)(24) is susceptible to two reasonable interpretations. However, the Court agrees with defendant and accords substantial deference to the interpretation espoused by the Secretary of Health and Human Services who is charged by Congress with implementing and enforcing this statute. The Secretary reconciles the overlap between the AFDC and SSI benefit programs by a policy that funds are not received until the recipient actually receives them. This policy is congruent with the operative language of the statute.

R-131-32. A careful review of the alleged policy shows that it was not addressed to the specific facts of this case and, even if it could be so construed, is not a permissible policy interpretation to which deference is owed.

A. The Policy Articulated in the Action Transmittal Was Not Based on The Facts of This Case

The Action Transmittal relied on by DHS to support its denial of benefits to Nelson's son is actually addressed to three separate issues that may arise when an AFDC recipient receives retroactive SSI. However, the issue raised by this appeal is not one of them. It addresses: (1) "whether or not States must recompute AFDC to adjust for any overpayments or underpayments created during the SSI retroactive period"; (2) "the treatment of SSI retroactive payments to or on behalf of individuals without continuing SSI eligibility";

and (3) "whether child support payments collected during the SSI retroactive period must be redistributed to the AFDC family." R-125.

DHS ignored the fact that the transmittal was not addressed to the issue raised by Nelson's case, and then compounded its error by extracting isolated language from one portion of the document, which it construed as binding federal policy applicable to this case. That portion of the instruction states:

AFDC Payments Made During the SSI Retroactive Period

AFDC benefits for the SSI retroactive period will not be recomputed because they are correct payments. Section 402(a)(24)<sup>3</sup> of the Act, which prohibits counting the income and resources of an SSI recipient for AFDC purposes, is applicable beginning on the date SSI payments are actually received. Therefore, since ineligibility does not begin prior to the receipt of the SSI payment, AFDC payments issued during the SSI application period and prior to actual receipt of SSI are correct payments.

R-125. From this segment, DHS inferred that in all cases it would be reasonable to apply section 602(a)(24) in all situations "beginning on the date SSI payments are actually received." While this may be an easy way to solve the problem raised by Nelson's case, it is not fair and reasonable, nor is it clearly federal policy. There is no evidence that the federal agency ever addressed the facts presented by this case. At oral argument, DHS' counsel produced the Declaration of Diann Dawson, dated March 13,

---

<sup>3</sup>Section 402(a)(24) is the official designation in the Social Security Act of the statute at issue. It corresponds to 42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(24).

1996, which purports to be policy applicable to this case. R-129. See Addendum. However, the declaration is no more than a summary of the language quoted above from Action Transmittal No. ACF-AT-93-20. It does not address the unique facts presented by this appeal. It is aimed at an unrelated issue: the offsetting of SSI benefits by any AFDC benefits received. As will be argued below, the transmittal is not entitled to deference and produces an unreasonable result in this case.

B. An Informal Statement of Policy By a Federal Agency Is Not Entitled to Deference

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