1996

# Josie D. Nelson v. Rod Betit : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Persons with disabilities may seek Supplemental Security Income (SSI) cash assistance and Social Security Disability Insurance Benefits (SSDIB) from the Social Security Administration (SSA). Additionally, they may seek AFDC financial assistance and Medicaid coverage from their designated State agency. Social Security benefits and AFDC and Medicaid are separate programs, authorized and regulated by separate laws, and administered by separate agencies.

Congress has created financial (AFDC) and medical (Medicaid) coverage for disabled and needy individuals to be paid for with a combination of federal and state funds. Consistent with Congressional objectives and state statutes, the Department of Human Services determines who will receive assistance based upon the need of all who may be eligible. It is reasonable and

appropriate for the agency to distribute scarce public funds by rendering ineligible those who have accumulated assets from which they could provide for the costs of their own care.

In 1981, Congress enacted a "lump sum" rule for the purpose of requiring AFDC households to utilize certain lump sum amounts to meet their daily living needs with lump sum monies, rather than with taxpayer dollars, for the period of calculated ineligibility. For AFDC and categorically needy Medicaid recipients, the receipt of certain lump sum amounts is treated as income for the month the lump sum is received. The "lump sum" rule results in an AFDC and Medicaid household unit becoming ineligible for those benefits for the number of months equal to the amount of the lump sum divided by the household's standard of need. In most situations, application of the lump sum rule causes hardships to recipients who may have large accrued bills which they would like to pay with their lump sum monies. However, Congress wished to create an incentive for AFDC recipients of lump sums to budget such sums for monthly necessities and to eliminate the incentive to spend the money all at once.

An SSDIB lump sum payment is included as a lump sum within the AFDC "lump sum" rule. Receipt of an SSDIB lump sum award is



treated as income to an AFDC household in the month in which it is received, not the months in which the AFDC household was eligible to receive the award. Similarly, the receipt of SSI benefits are treated as received by an SSI recipient in the month in which they are received, not the month for which the recipient was eligible for those benefits.

Federal law excludes an individual from an AFDC household for the period of time for which SSI benefits are received by that individual. Nelson was not an SSI recipient until December 1992 when she received her SSI benefits' check. By December 1992, Nelson and her child had already been disqualified from the AFDC and Medicaid programs as a result of her SSDIB retroactive lump sum award. The State of Utah's interpretation of applicable federal laws conforms with that of the Secretary of Health and Human Services. The Secretary's interpretation of complex federal regulations in the Social Security area must be given deference by reviewing courts

#### ARGUMENT

- I. NELSON HAD NOT ACTUALLY RECEIVED SSI BENEFITS UNTIL DECEMBER 1992 WHEN SHE HAD POSSESSION AND CONTROL OF THOSE FUNDS. CONSEQUENTLY, SHE WAS NOT RECEIVING SSI BENEFITS IN NOVEMBER 1992 WHEN HER SSDIB LUMP SUM PAYMENT MADE HER HOUSEHOLD INELIGIBLE FOR AFDC AND MEDICAID ASSISTANCE

A. General Background: SSDIB and SSI Benefits

Persons with disabilities may seek Supplemental Security Income (SSI) cash assistance and Social Security Disability Insurance Benefits (SSDIB) through the Social Security Administration. The two programs share a common definition of disability but have separate funding sources. The SSDIB program is an insurance program funded by joint worker/employee contributions while the worker is employed. To qualify for SSDIB, the applicant must have worked the requisite number of quarters and be insured at the time the disability began. On the other hand, SSI is an income maintenance program and is available to any qualified blind, disabled, or elderly person, regardless of work history.

An applicant for SSI benefits is entitled to those benefits as of the first day of the month in which he or she satisfies all eligibility requirements and has applied for benefits. See 20 C.F.R. §§ 416.330, 416.335 (1992). Yet, after a person applies for SSI benefits, the SSA takes a significant period of time to determine the applicant's eligibility and to begin making payments. This period of time--between the first date of SSI eligibility and the date of the first SSI payment--is referred to as the "determination period." Once a person is deemed eligible

for SSI benefits, he or she initially receives a retroactive lump sum payment for all benefits accrued during the determination period. During the SSI determination period, some SSI applicants apply for and receive AFDC payments. If an applicant is subsequently determined eligible for SSI benefits, the SSA deducts from its initial retroactive lump-sum SSI payment an amount equal to the amount of AFDC aid received by that individual during the determination period. See generally 42 U.S.C.S. §§ 1382(b) (1993), 1382a(b) (1993 & Supp. 1996); 20 C.F.R. §§ 416.1120, 416.1123; 416.1124(c)(2) (1992). The rationale for this deduction is to prevent a public assistance recipient from benefitting from both the SSI and the AFDC program for the same period of time.

B. General Background: AFDC Lump Sum Rule

The AFDC program is a public assistance scheme established by federal statute.<sup>1</sup> See 42 U.S.C.S. § 601-615 (1985 & Supp. 1996). Under the program, the federal government makes grants to

---

<sup>1</sup>On August 22, 1996, President Clinton signed into law the Personal Responsibility and Work Reconciliation Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-193, 110 Stat. 2105 (1996), effectively repealing the AFDC program and replacing it with the Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) program. The discussion of the AFDC program herein is based upon the law as it existed at the time this case arose.

partially fund participating State programs that provide cash assistance to families with needy, dependent children. Although the program is funded jointly by the federal and state governments, it is administered by the States. To receive grants from the federal government, a State must submit an AFDC plan to the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) which conforms to both statutory and regulatory requirements. See 42 U.S.C.S. § 602 (1985 & Supp. 1996).

The Medicaid program was established by Congress in 1965 as Title XIX of the Social Security Act "for the purpose of providing federal financial assistance to States that choose to reimburse certain costs of medical treatment for needy persons." Harris v. McRae, 448 U.S. 297, 301 (1980). It is a program designed to make medical services for the needy more generally available.

A participating state must provide Medicaid coverage to "categorically needy" persons. See 42 U.S.C.S. § 1396a(a)(10)(A)(i) (1993). The "categorically needy"--a group that includes dependent children as well as aged, blind, or disabled adults--receive both cash payments and Medicaid coverage; however, in order to be eligible for this assistance, both their income and resources must be below limits set by the

Department of Health and Human Services. See 20 C.F.R. §§ 416.1201; 416.1205; 416.1210 (1992).

The Nelson household qualified for AFDC and therefore also qualified for Medicaid as a "categorically needy" household. 42 U.S.C.S. § 1396a(a)(10)(A)(1993 & Supp. 1996). However, AFDC and Medicaid eligibility must be reviewed monthly to assure that the household's income and resources do not exceed the requirements set by Utah's AFDC and Medicaid programs.

The lump sum rule for determining an AFDC recipient's income was added to the AFDC program by Section 402(a)(17) of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981 (OBRA). See 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(17)(1985). The lump sum regulation at 45 C.F.R. § 233.20(a)(3)(ii)(F)(1992), which was applied to Nelson, provides:

When the AFDC assistance unit's income, after applying applicable disregards, exceeds the State need standard for the family because of receipt of nonrecurring earned or unearned lump sum income (including for AFDC, Title II<sup>2</sup> and other retroactive monthly benefits, and payments in the nature of a windfall, e.g., inheritances or lottery winnings, personal injury and worker compensation awards, to the extent that it is not earmarked and used for the purpose for which it is paid, i.e., monies for back medical bills resulting

---

<sup>2</sup>Title II refers to that Title of the Social Security Act (the Act) which sets forth the Federal Old-Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance Benefits (SSDIB) of the Act.

from accidents or injury, funeral and burial costs, replacement or repair of resources, etc.), the family will be ineligible for aid for the full number of months derived by dividing the sum of the lump sum income and other income by the monthly need standard for a family of that size. Any income remaining from this calculation is income in the first month following the period of ineligibility. The period of ineligibility shall begin with the month of receipt of the nonrecurring income of, at State option, as late as the corresponding payment month.<sup>3]</sup>

The foregoing regulation requires that a lump sum SSDIB award be considered "unearned income" and taken into account in determining if a recipient and his or her household will continue to be eligible for AFDC assistance. The lump sum rule will apply when an AFDC family member receives in a month a lump sum of non-recurring income which, together with the family's other income, exceeds the state's standard of need for that family for that month.

In the case of the Nelson household, the State divided \$4,918--the SSDIB benefits received by Nelson in October 1992--by the standard of need of her household size--\$431--resulting in her family becoming ineligible for AFDC and Medicaid for several months, commencing in November 1992. Even if the family spends

---

<sup>3</sup>This federal regulation is incorporated into Utah policy at Office of Family Support policy manual, Volume II, §§ 122 and 438. (Addendum A).

the lump sum immediately and the family has no funds for support, the disqualification period continues as if the family had budgeted the lump sum funds to cover their standard needs budget. In essence, the lump sum rule is intended to force the family to use its lump sum payment to replace its AFDC grant during the proscribed period. See Gardebring v. Jenkins, 485 U.S. 415, 417-418 (1988); Smith v. Concannon, 938 F.2d 966, 970 (9th Cir. 1991).

State plans for AFDC must include a provision that if an individual is

receiving [SSI] benefits under Title XVI . . . , then for the period for which such benefits are received. . . , such individual shall not be regarded as a member of the family for purposes of determining the amount of benefits of the family under this Title [42 U.S.C.S. § 601 et. seq.] and his income and resources shall not be counted as income and resources of a family under this Title. . . .

(emphasis added). 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24)(Supp. 1996). See also 45 C.F.R. § 233.20(a)(1)(ii)(1992).

Nelson asserts, based upon the foregoing AFDC State plan requirement, that she should have been excluded from the AFDC household (which included her and her son) in October 1992 when she received her SSDIB lump sum award. She argues that she was an SSI recipient in October 1992 because, in December 1992, SSA

determined her to be SSI eligible retroactive to July 1992. It is her position that her retroactive July 1992 SSI eligibility should have caused her to be excluded from her household in October 1992 when her SSDIB lump sum income was received. To assert that position, Nelson strains the plain language of 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24) and disregards the statutory interpretation of both the federal and state agencies.

C. SSI Benefits are not "Received" Until a Recipient has Actually Obtained the Benefit Check from the Social Security Administration

The undisputed facts in this case are that Nelson was not even informed of her SSI eligibility until November 1992. In addition, the SSI benefit check, in a liquidated sum, was not legally available to her until December 1992. By that date, DHS had already determined that her lump sum SSDIB award was countable "income" and had disqualified her household from AFDC and Medicaid commencing November 1, 1992--the month after she received her SSDIB award.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup>The Secretary of Health and Human Services has interpreted income and resources to be available to an applicant or recipient "when actually available and when the applicant or recipient has a legal interest in a liquidated sum and has the legal ability to make such sum available for support and maintenance." 45 C.F.R. § 233.20(a)(3)(ii)(D)(1992).



Nelson's argument requires this Court to analyze the meaning of 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24) when it excludes, for AFDC eligibility purposes, the income and resources of a household member who "is receiving benefits under Title XVI" [SSI benefits] for the period for which such benefits "are received." The issue becomes the meaning of the words "receiving" and "received." Nelson argues that she "received" SSI benefits from the date on which she was determined to have been eligible for those benefits, not from the date on which those cash benefits were actually tendered to her.

The principles of statutory construction applicable to this issue are clear. "We look first to the plain language of the statute to discern the legislative intent. . . 'Only when we find ambiguity in the statute's plain language need we seek guidance from the legislative history and relevant policy considerations.'" City of South Salt Lake, et. al. v. Salt Lake County, No. 960325 (Utah Oct. 18, 1996); Gohler v. Wood, 919 P.2d 561, 562-563 (Utah 1996).

A review of the plain language of the statute in question reveals no ambiguity. The words "receiving" and "received" are clear and unambiguous. Black's Law Dictionary defines "receive" as "to take into possession and control; accept custody of;

collect." Black's Law Dictionary 1268 (6th ed. 1990). Clearly, Nelson did not take her SSI benefits into her possession and control until December 1992 when she actually accepted custody of them or collected them from the Social Security Administration. The term "receive" is not of uncertain meaning and is used in many statutes. If Congress had meant for an AFDC household member's income and resources to be excluded as of the date he or she becomes eligible for SSI, Congress would have written 42 U.S.C.S. §602(a)(24) to reflect that intent and meaning.

Clearly, Congress provided that the exclusion in Section 602(a)(24) applies only "if an individual is receiving" SSI benefits. The exclusion does not apply as of the date an individual is determined to have been eligible for SSI benefits. Because 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24) is unambiguous on its face, no inquiry into the legislative history or policy concerns underlying the statutory terms is necessary. However, exploring the policy considerations behind the statute, it remains clear that Nelson's arguments must fail.

D. DHS's Interpretation of 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24) is Consistent with Acceptable Congressional and Agency Objectives and Policy Concerns

Nelson cites a 1980 Pennsylvania decision, Gleim v. Com. Dept. of Public Welfare, 409 A.2d 951 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1980), which

analyzed the language of 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24). Examining facts similar to those in this case, the Pennsylvania court reviewed whether Gleim was a "recipient" of SSI within the meaning of the statute when the State agency was determining if he was included in a household for AFDC purposes. The court noted that it is "axiomatic that a statute may not be construed to reach an absurd or illogical result, and that in the absence of special intent statutory language must be given its clear and plain meaning." Gleim, 409 A.2d at 952.

However, rather than focusing on the clear meaning of the word "receive," the Gleim court rejected the State's argument that an SSI recipient does not become a recipient until he or she actually receives SSI monies, because the court opined that such an interpretation could lead to illogical and inconsistent results.

DPW would have us hold that an individual is not a "recipient" until he is in actual receipt of official notice of eligibility and the attendant payments. Thus, two persons might be declared eligible on the same day, . . . but because of processing delays at the SSA level become "recipients" under the statute on widely varying dates.

Gleim, 409 A.2d at 952.

The court in Gleim maintained that, "as of the date which SSA declares the individual eligible to receive SSI, he shall be

considered a 'recipient' under the Act. . . ." (emphasis added). Gleim, 409 A.2d at 953, n.3. In essence, the Gleim Court ruled that the term "receive" used in 42 U.S.C.S. § 602(a)(24) means "eligible to receive."

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